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INTRODUCTION

1.

We make certain preliminary assertions which we respectfully believe are justified in this matter.

2.

In acrimonious litigation such as the present set of cases, a whole lot of side issues and secondary disputes tend to arise, not least of which are the emotional undercurrents. It is important to keep focus on the disputes as they appear from the pleadings. The issues are actually very limited in their ambit.

3.

The plaintiff is a trading corporation. As such the basis on which it can sue for defamation and the headings under which it can claim damages are substantially different to that of an individual natural person.

4.

The statements complained of in all four cases were made by the defendants to either government officials designated to receive information about the development, or were made to other members of the conservancy during the course of discussions dealing with the development and the objection against it. It is significant that none of the statements complained of were made to the press. This fact vitiates any argument or allegation that the defendants acted animo  iniuriandi.

5.

As per the pre-trial minutes, the parties agreed to separate quantum and merits. We submit that to prove liability on the side of any of the defendants, the plaintiff has to establish all of the following:

5.1. That the statements complained of were unlawful and were made with the requisite intent to injure.

5.2. That none of the defences raised by the defendants are valid.

5.3. That, notionally, the plaintiff suffered damages under any or all of the headings claimed.

5.4. That such notional damage was caused by the statements complained of.

6.

We submit that the plaintiff’s case fails on each and every requirement set out above. It either hasn’t proven that the statements complained of were in fact made, or it hasn’t established the very first element, namely that the statements were made animo iniuriandi.

7.

The history of this case does not present a genuinely aggrieved plaintiff that is seeking redress. To the contrary, the background shows the belligerence, bullying tactics and complete lack of decorum on the part of the plaintiff, ably assisted by an attorney who displayed the same characteristics.

8.

The disputes between the parties in the processes leading up to the township approval and the environmental record of decision should have been left there. It should never have been the subject matter of litigation, let alone litigation claiming losses of fifty million rand. 

THE BACKGROUND

9.

The plaintiff, Wraypex (Pty) Ltd, is a development company which intended to, and did, develop a golf estate on a number of farms collectively known as Blair Athol, approximately 605 hectares in extent. The estate consists of approximately 300 residential erven, an erf for a hotel, and an eighteen hole golf course. 

See:
p 277, l 2 to end of page

10.

Robert Sean Wray, who found the plaintiff in 2001, is the major shareholder in the plaintiff, which stems from an associated building company, wholly owned by Wray.

P 274, l 21

11.

The plaintiff has been involved with the development of several upmarket residential estates in Johannesburg, ranging from sectional title to full title ownership. Despite this, it was the first time that the plaintiff had experienced such vociferous opposition.

See: p 275, l 20

See: p 340, l 24

12.

The defendants are all members of the Rhenosterspruit Nature Conservancy, and are all private land owners who live within the Conservancy. The Conservancy was set up in 1987 by the third defendant (Duigan) and at the time was known as the Kareebosrand Conservancy, the name later changed to the Rhenosterspruit Nature Conservancy.

See: p 130, l 5

13.

The common objective of the Conservancy and its members is to preserve the natural environment within the Conservancy and its surrounding areas but also focuses on social issues in the area.

14.

The Conservancy comprises of approximately 200 properties and cover an area of approximately 10’000 hectares.

See:  p 127, l 25

15.

The 18 farms comprising Blair Atholl were purchased by the plaintiff during the course of 2003 and 2004 and were transferred in ownership to the plaintiff in 2005. As was stated above the farms were purchased with the view of developing a golf estate on the property which would comprise a low density country development, with a boutique hotel, equestrian component and an 18 hole golf course.

See: p 277, l 19

See: p 279, l 13

16.

The purchase consideration for the properties was about R115 million and the funds required to purchase the properties were obtained through development finance with financial institutions. 

See: p 279, l 5

17.

Blair Atholl is situated in the north-western corner of Gauteng, on the western border of the City of Tshwane Metropolitan Municipality’s area of jurisdiction. It is located immediately north of Lanseria Airport, north-west of Diepsloot Nature Reserve, north-east and in close proximity to the Cradle of Humankind, a World Heritage site, and south of Hartebeespoort Dam.

18.

Blair Atholl is immediately adjacent to the Rhenosterspruit Nature Conservancy. In fact, two of the defendants’ properties, Essberger and Barnes, are neighbours of Blair Atholl.

See: p 85, l 10

See: p 203, l 12

19.

To establish the township, the plaintiff needed to obtain township approval in terms of  the Town  Planning and Townships Ordinance, 15 of 1986 (Gauteng). It also needed to obtain a written authorisation as contemplated in section 22 of the Environment Conservation Act 73 of 1989. 

20.

These approvals are obtained in terms of section 69(6)(a) of the Town Planning and Townships Ordinance, 15 of 1986 and the Town-Planning and Townships regulations (Administrator’s notice No. 858 of 1987) (“the ordinance”) and the regulations in terms of the Environmental Impact Assessment regulations (section 21(1), Government Gazette # 18261 of 1997) under the Environment Conservation Act, 1989 (Act No. 73 of 1989), since the proposed activity was listed as a Schedule 1 activity which may have a detrimental effect on the environment.

21.

Approvals in terms of the ordinance were to be obtained from the Tshwane Metropolitan Municipality (Tshwane) and approvals in terms of Environmental Impact Assessment regulations were to be obtained from the Gauteng Department of Agriculture, Conservation and the Environment (GDACE).  

22.

The ordinance is not the most user friendly legislation. It would serve no purpose to try and unravel the whole process. Township establishment is a complex process. The public participation component thereof is contained in sections 95, 96 and 131 of the Ordinance.

23.

The Environmental Impact Assessment regulations (applicable at the time) made provision for an independent consultant to be appointed by the developer who was required to publish a notice, conduct public participation meetings of interested and affected parties, collate all reports and objections and submit them to the Head of Department for consideration. It also made provision for appeals to be lodged against the issuing of a record of decision under the regulations. 

24.

After the plaintiff published notices in terms of Town Planning and Townships Ordinance and the Environmental Impact Assessment regulations, the defendants all objected to the proposed development. They objected individually as well as collectively through the Conservancy. The defendants were not the only objectors, but other land owners within the Conservancy also objected to the proposed development. Gaylard’s evidence that at one of the public participation meetings there were about 50 to 60 people is significant in this regard. 

See: p 29 

25.

Their objections related to environmental and planning issues and more specifically to issues of urban sprawl beyond the urban edge, the pressure on subterranean water resources through irrigation of the golf course, pollution of the Crocodile River by fertilisers used on the golf greens and lack of a proper public participation process.

26.

The defendants raised their objections both formally in terms of the procedures prescribed by the relevant township establishment ordinances and legislation relating to the protection of the environment, as well as through representations and complaints to government officials tasked with policing compliance with environmental legislation.

27.

Notwithstanding the defendants’ and other objectors’ objections, the plaintiff received a positive record of decision (ROD) in terms of the Environmental Impact Assessment regulations on 14 June 2005. He received township approval from Tshwane on 14 February 2005. No appeal was lodged against the township approval. An appeal was however lodged against the positive ROD by the GDACE. This appeal was lodged in July 2005.

28.

Before the appeal was finalised, the plaintiff already issued summonses against some of the defendants, the first being against Barnes on the 18th of July 2005, and issued summonses in respect of the rest of the defendants before the period for review of the dismissal of the appeal has lapsed.

THE SUMMONSES  AND THE PLEADINGS

29.

The plaintiff issued summonses against the four defendants individually, on the basis that certain of the objections and complaints raised by the defendants, and directed to the various government officials, were defamatory of the plaintiff, injured it in its fair name and reputation and caused it financial loss in that the approvals for its development were delayed. 

30.

The first defendant was sued for 40 million, the second defendant was sued for 50 million, the third defendant was sued for 40 million and the fourth defendant was sued for 40 million. Considering the fact that the plaintiff got all its approvals and describes the project as a success, the amounts sued for appears somewhat suspect.

See: p 333

31.

The plaintiff’s respective claims against the defendants are based on the actio injuriarum. Damages are then claimed under different headings

32.

The defendants were sued individually and not jointly and severally on the basis that they acted in concert, or that their collective efforts in opposing the development caused the harm complained of. 

33.

Gaylard, Duigan and Barnes were sued on the basis that they made the following statements of and concerning the plaintiff to the town planner, Centurion, City of Tshwane, on or about 14 September 2004:

33.1.
That the plaintiff did not comply with due process and associated legal requirements in relation to the proposed Blair Atholl township.

33.2.
That the plaintiff had not submitted a comprehensive environmental impact assessment to the responsible authorities for approval in accordance with existing legislation concerning applications for changes in land use.

33.3.
That the plaintiff had not held a public meeting of interested parties, and that it was required by statute.

34.

Barnes was further sued on the basis that he made the following statements of and concerning the plaintiff:

34.1.
That it is carrying out illegal activities on the proposed Blair Atholl Development by digging foundations on the property of the proposed development.

34.2.
That it had committed fraud by representing that it would pay for the relocation of the school currently situated on the property of the proposed Blair Atholl Development, whilst, in truth, the Gary Player Foundation was doing so. 

34.3.
That it had bribed government officials in order to obtain consent for the proposed development, and in particular that it had promised or given stands on the Blair Atholl Development to those officials.

34.4.
That it had not informed interested parties, in the correct manner and within the prescribed time period of the record of decision regarding the Blair Atholl Development.

34.5.
That it had no rights to utilise water from the Crocodile River, and that it was utilising the same illegally.

34.6.
That chemicals to be utilised on the proposed golf course on the development would pollute the Crocodile River. 

35.

According to the plaintiff’s particulars of claim the above statements were made to a whole range of people, including officials from the GDACE and various people unknown to the plaintiff, but the exact date on which the alleged statements were made, and the circumstances under which it was made are not enunciated.

36.

Gaylard was further sued on the basis that he'd made the following statement of and concerning the plaintiff to Tsheko Ratsheko of the GDACE, on or about 26 and 27 July 2005:

36.1.
That it was conducting illegal construction related activities on the proposed Blair Atholl Development.

36.2.
Gaylard was further sued on the basis that he'd made the following statements of and concerning the plaintiff to Dr. Cornelius of the GDACE, and to the member of the Executive Council, Provincial Department of Agriculture, Conservation and the Environment on or about 26 July 2005:

“It is clear from the recent developments on the site that the developer is in breach of the conditions set out in the Record of Decision and is not taking heed of the warnings issued by officials of your department.

You are therefore requested to take the necessary measures against the developer to stop the unlawful construction activities as a matter of urgency.”

37.

Gaylard was further sued on the basis that he made the following statement of and concerning the plaintiff:

“The approaches made to individuals are obviously an attempt to stifle opposition by stealth.”

38.

According to the plaintiff’s particulars of claim the above statement was made on 23 September 2004 to a whole range of people, mostly members of the Conservancy and various people unknown to the plaintiff, but the circumstances under which it was made are not enunciated.

39.

Essberger was sued on the basis that she had made the following statements of and concerning the plaintiff to Khabisi Mosunkutu, the Member of the Executive Council for Agriculture, Conservation and the Environment for Gauteng, on or about 13 July 2005:

“Again ‘jumped the gun’ in that earthmoving has been done prior to expiry of the period allowed for appeal against the ROD issued.

Has destroyed and known nesting site of the African Finfoot, a protected bird species.”

The case against Gaylard

40.

Gaylard’s evidence is at pages 22 to 82 of the record.

41.

We submit that Gaylard, similar to the other defendants, made a good impression. His worst sin was being somewhat argumentative during cross examination.

42.

Gaylard had no problem making concessions where he thought they should be made and had no problem accepting that some of his knowledge and assumptions made at the time of the event were faulty.

43.

Most striking of his evidence is the general background. He is sixty seven years old and a chemical engineer (not mechanical) by profession. Pollution and water purification count among his specialities. He strikes one as a typical respected member of his community, being the Renosterspruit Conservancy. It would be difficult to associate him with the ways of a reckless slanderer.

See:

p 22, l 14 to p 23, l 18

44.

As with the other defendants, the significance which he attaches to the natural and historical environment cannot be doubted.

See:
p 24, l 13 to end of page

45.

This aspect is important, as it forms the basis of the evidence that the defendants, throughout, acted out of a genuine concern for their environment and to retain the sense of place of their area.

46.

This part of his evidence is also supported by the fact that he from time to time gave of his time to the conservancy, being the Renosterspruit Conservancy.

See: p 25, l 2 to p 26 l 15.

47.

Gaylard had specific concerns regarding the proposed golf course development. These related to scarce water resources and the fact that the development was far outside the urban edge. These concerns can only be regarded as valid. Gaylard and his wife then formulated an objection to the township establishment application. 

See: p 29, l 12 to 23 & p 31, l 2

See: p 102 & 102

48.

How one can impute or infer animus iniuriandi, on the part of Gaylard, is difficult to see. The only word he ever used that had a bit of sting in it was the word “stealth”. Gaylard explains the use of this word well, and it is quite justified. It is somewhat impertinent for a town planner, appointed by a developer, to request objectors to withdraw their objections. 

49.

It is clear that the town planner appointed by the developer wanted to take a short cut by pressing ahead with the application for township establishment without objections. If objections are withdrawn, there is no need for a co called section 79 committee hearing and the process becomes a mere administrative process as opposed to a quasi-judicial process. 

50.

Gaylard’s evidence as a whole testifies to someone with genuine concern for the environment who participated in a responsible manner in the public participation processes. If an intention to injure is imputed to someone like Gaylard, it would effectively mean that ordinary people cannot participate in public processes. It would defeat the very object of such processes.

51.

In any event, Gaylard never made the first statement and wasn’t a party to it. He wasn’t a member of the committee at the time. This much was conceded by Wray in cross examination. 

52.

The third statement was made by the attorneys, Deneys Reitz, at a time when Gaylard was not yet their client. In any event, if the letters of Deneys Reitz are compared to the letters of Myburgh (the plaintiff’s attorney at the time), it is a case of the pot calling the kettle black.

53.

The only suggestion made against Gaylard was that he was party to litigation in which the allegation was made that the plaintiff was acting illegally. It is obvious from the documents that at the time the proceedings were launched, Gaylard was unaware of the letter written by Cornelius that effectively changed the initial ROD and permitted the plaintiff to continue with construction pending the appeal process.

54.

It is important that no version was put to Gaylard in cross examination which contradicted his testimony with regard to his bona fides.  In examination in chief, Wray, on behalf of the plaintiff, made no direct allegation which contradicted Gaylard’s testimony.

The case against Essberger

55.

It is fair comment that one should not make heavy weather of Essberger’s case.

56.

Like the other defendants, she has a genuine concern for the environment and her area. She displays her bona fides from the outset by visiting Wray and finding out what his plans were.

57.

It is ridiculous to sue Essberger for the statement that a Finfoot nest has been destroyed. Wray’s unwillingness to accept that this could be the truth simply shows how unreasonable he is. The statement was obviously the truth. Why else would she make it? She has the necessary local knowledge.

58.

It is also difficult to fathom how Wray could contradict Essberger’s testimony.  Surely Wray did not operate the machinery which did the clearing.  How would Wray have known if one of his machine operators graded over a Finfoot’s nest.

59.

The statement “again jumped the gun” was obviously made bona fide with reference to the original ROD that prohibited any construction pending appeal, and without knowing that the GDACE granted the plaintiff permission to continue with its development pending the appeal, without notifying any of the interested and affected parties. 

60.

In any event, these were not her ipsissima verba. She commented to the chairperson of the Gauteng Conservancy Association, and consented that he relay the observations to the MEC.

61.

This is a responsible way of going about one’s complaints. Again, to infer an intention to injure is fanciful.

62.

The plaintiff seems to rely in a roundabout way on Essberger’s statement that she would fight the development with “every fibre of her being”.

63.

Wray wants the court to believe that these are the words of someone filled with spite and malice. The irony is that the facts actually illustrate how timid Essberger actually is. She doesn’t attend a public participation meeting at Blair Atholl because she was told not to trespass.  She also backs down on her request for an access road during floods.

64.

The case against Essberger should easily be dismissed.

The case against Duigan

65.

Duigan was admittedly a very active member of the conservancy’s committee. There is literally the best part of a hundred emails of her on record.

66.

Her activism in the conservancy and environmental issues long precede the Blair Atholl development and has since survived it. She testified that since the Blair Atholl Development the Conservancy and its members have actively participated in 29 other public participation processes for the approval of other developments in the area.

67.

It gives the lie to any suggestion that she acted out of malice. In fact, her actions show that she is truly a committed community activist.

68.

But all of that are side issues. The case against Duigan is an extremely narrow one. It is limited to the letter that the conservancy sent out on 14 September 2004.

See: p 183

69.

In fact the pleadings refer to the content of the letter of 8 September 2004. 

See: p176

70.

Duigan was one of eleven committee members at the time. The committee sent the letter around for people to comment. The final product actually shows how cautious they were and how completely absent any intention to injure is.

71.

The letter was sent to the relevant authority and no publication other than this took place. It simply cannot be wrongful. 

72.

From the very first letters of demand sent off by Myburgh, in his usual long winded and threatening style, it is clear that the draft letter of 8 September 2004 had been intercepted. 

73.

The statements were not contained in a letter of 14 September 2010 but similar statements were contained in a letter dated 8 September 2004 which was circulated internally amongst Conservancy members and was leaked to the plaintiff’s attorney by one of the plaintiff’s employees, Tyrone Yates, the farm manager. Although Yates lived in the area, he was not a member of the committee. Yates seems to have made it his business to obtain confidential information from the committee.

74.

The initial content of the letter, in draft form, can at best be seen as deliberative. For an outside party to intercept such a document, and then to use it, is serious. Our law takes such interference with confidentiality very serious, to the extent that it may under certain circumstances exclude it from evidence, either to sustain a cause of action, or to establish a defence.

See: Financial Mail v Sage Holdings  Ltd 1993 (2) SA 451 at 464  A to J

75.

Whether these statements were defamatory per se is a question of law and what should be determined is whether the words complained of are reasonably capable of conveying to the reasonable reader a meaning which defames the plaintiff
. It is submitted that the statements complained of are not defamatory of the plaintiff and the reasonable reader would not understand these words as defamatory of the plaintiff.

76.

It is further submitted that these words do not have any pejorative sting.

77.

The idea behind the letter of 14 September 2004 was to obtain as many inputs from as many conservancy members who objected to the proposed development in order to harness their support in the committee’s objection to the proposed development. Any pejorative stings that might have occurred in the letter of 8 September 2004 (which were never published) were sanitised by members of the Conservancy before it was published to the town planner. 

78.

In as far as these statements are concerned it has not been shown that Duigan manufactured falsehoods calculated to harm the plaintiff. At worst for her, she put up the belief that there might have been defects in the process of establishment of a township and environment-related approvals obtained by the plaintiff. 

79.

Moreover, on the face of it, Duigan's apprehension that there may have been procedural defects cannot be described as either fanciful or as having been advanced in bad faith.

80.

This is apparent from, inter alia, the fact that the GDACE was moved, once the issues had been pertinently raised and considered, to launch its own investigation into the plaintiff’s conduct. The case against Duigan should similarly be dismissed outright. There was no animus iniuriandi, and the statements cannot even begin to found wrongfulness.

The case against Barnes

81.

The case against Barnes in respect of the letter of September 2004 is the same as above. We do not repeat the same issues here.

82.

In paragraph 8 of the particulars of claim, the plaintiff shoots with the proverbial shotgun. It would appear that all the statements complained of, except the one in respect of bribery (8.3) was made in the course of the environmental appeal or the urgent application for an interdict. In both instances Barnes was assisted by professionals; in the court case by lawyers and in the appeal by a consultant in the environmental processes. The allegations were made in the course of litigation or administrative processes, were well founded factually and certainly did not exceed the bounds of the privileged occasion.

83.

Barnes, as did Duigan and Essberger, went to pay Wray a courtesy visit at the start of the saga. This shows his initial bona fides. We submit that his attitude remained one of sticking to the issues.  It was in fact Wray and his attorney that soured these initial constructive relationships.

84.

We respectfully submit that it is only necessary to deal with the allegation that the plaintiff (or Wray) had committed fraud (8.2) and had paid a bribe (8.3).

85.

The allegations, we now know, has only one source, namely Hampson.

86.

Barnes denies making these statements.

See: p 213, l 11.

See: P 214, l 24

See: P259, l 24

See: P260, l7 - 12

87.

Hampson is a single witness and a cautionary approach is justified. There is more than just the ordinary cautionary rule that should be held against Hampson.

88.

The circumstances under which he went to Barnes in June/July 2005 is strange and suspect.

89.

Again, Tyron Yates, who on a previous occasion intercepted the conservancy’s correspondence and passed it on to Wray without the Conservancy’s consent, again looms large in the background.  Yates sent Hampson on a fishing expedition.  The probabilities dictate such a finding.

90.

Hampson went to Barnes under the pretext to sort out an invoice that Wraypex had owed him. 

91.

If one compares the evidence Hamson led in Court to the affidavit he'd deposed to at the plaintiff's attorney's office, it is clear that Hampson is an unreliable witness. In his affidavit he states that he went to Barnes to assist him with an unpaid account. In evidence he testified that the account was not overdue, or to use Hampson’s own words, the account was current, and that in fact went to Barnes to find out if the development will be stopped.

92.

What is extremely odd about his testimony is the fact that Yates had direct access to Wray and supposedly the plaintiff’s accounts department. Yet Yates sends Hampson to Barnes to sort out the problems with his account, or should his testimony be believed, to find out if the development will continue. Fortuitously he returns with the only two statements in this entire case that constitutes defamation on the face thereof. Hampson went to Barnes to fish for information.

93.

He then relays his story to Wray, who uses the information to sue Barnes as he had threatened to do for a while, on the basis of something that a person said that Wray did not know from a bar of soap, and from a person whom Wray described in his evidence as strange.

94.

Of course Hampson’s invoice problem then gets sorted out and as the information is relayed to Wray, Hampson receives a little bonus from the plaintiff when he gets to do more work for the plaintiff. It is all too good to be true.

95.

The fact is that a finding cannot be made on a preponderance of probabilities that Hampson is speaking the truth and Barnes is lying. The statements in 8.2 and 8.3 have not been proved.

96.

The fact of the matter is that Duigan, her husband and Barnes, later, after litigation had commenced, expressed their unease about the manner in which the consent had been granted. They certainly didn’t go around expressing their concerns to all and sundry. They did the responsible thing, namely to keep their discussions to themselves and appointed a private investigator to investigate the matter after Barnes learned that his phone was tapped. 

97.

Barnes had on 14 June 2005 expressed his concerns to Duigan and her husband.  This found at p 655. He states in a very definite context his extreme unhappiness; “I think we have a corruption related decision behind this”.  It is clear that Barnes chooses his words carefully. Had he wanted to spice it up with untrue details, he would have done so. He didn’t.

98.

He does not mention names, does not give any detail, because he doesn’t have any such information. That is why he uses the word “think”. This email is also not circulated at all. He confides his suspicions to people very close to him. That is not unlawful and that is in any event not the statement complained of. 

99.

Apart from the affidavit deposed to by Hampson, and which was attested by the plaintiff's attorney, the only time when any concrete “proof“ surfaces that Barnes was suspecting corruption is when discovery is made and when evidence is led in the present action against Barnes. Nothing else proves or supports Hampson’s evidence. In fact, it proves the contrary. Barnes is extremely cautious when talking about the issues relating to the Blair Atholl Development.

100.

The case against Barnes should similarly be dismissed as not proven. 

THE EVIDENCE OF WRAY

101.

Wray’s evidence deserves some comment.  His demeanour is admittedly confident and relaxed. But the content of his evidence betrays his real character and how grossly unreasonable and insolent he is.

102.

He refuses to acknowledge that his development has any negative environmental impacts notwithstanding the fact that all the experts in the GDACE were of the opinion that the development had severe detrimental environmental impacts. He has a very strange notion of what environmental concerns are.

103.

He actually believes that the defendants were driven by malice.

104.

He readily associates himself with the style and content of his attorney’s letters, and seems too oblivious to the fact that these letters must have caused serious damage to relations and made any constructive communication impossible.

105.

He refuses to concede that Essberger’s statements were made in good faith notwithstanding the fact that no contradictory version was put too Essberger by his Counsel. He further refuses to accept that his subcontractors could have destroyed a Finfoot’s nest.  This is obstinacy in the extreme.

106.

He readily accepts the say so of Hampson, someone he doesn’t know, whom he himself describes as strange and whose reliability he cannot gauge. In fact he becomes enraged at the statements, does not think it necessary to speak to Barnes, and continues to institute a fifty million rand lawsuit. And he thinks all of this is rational and reasonable.

107.

What is notable is that Wray described his reaction when hearing about Barnes’ alleged defamatory remarks as enraged. However, Hampson described Wray’s reaction as one of surprise.

108.

He focuses on the possible delays which the defendants might have caused in the process, but does not think the delays caused by himself, or the omissions by his consultants to adequately deal with the social consequences of the development, are relevant, or that the departmental delays merit litigation.

109.

Wray shows no insight into his own modus operandi. He takes much offense to people trespassing on his property, but refuses to inform them of what the true nature of his activities are.

110.

Wray obviously wanted to start with his development by mid 2005, and was frustrated that he couldn’t. Where he places the blame for the delays betrays his egocentric interpretation of all the facts.

111.

Wray constantly refers to his own rights which were trampled on but fails to identify what these rights are. One must guess what they are. It seems more a case of a bruised ego than of violated rights.

THE LAW OF DEFAMATION IN RESPECT OF  TRADING CORPORATIONS

112.

It is trite that a trading corporation can sue for damages sustained as a result of defamation. The claim is however limited in a number of ways.

113.

Juristic persons are not the bearers of human dignity.

See:
Investigating Directorate: SEO v Hyundai 2001(1) SA 545 at par 18

114.

A corporation has no “feelings to outrage or offend.

See: Die Spoorbond v South African Railways 1946 AD 999 at 1011

115.

The case law appears to recognise two headings under which damages can be claimed by a trading corporation.

116.

It was stated in Caxton Ltd and others v Reeva Forman (Pty) Ltd and another
 that:

‘A trading corporation has a right to sue for damages in respect of a defamatory statement which is calculated to injure its business reputation. Such corporation may also claim damages to compensate it for any actual loss sustained by it by reason of the defamation. The question as to whether or to what extent the defamatory statement is calculated to injure a trading corporation's business reputation has to be decided with reference to the nature of the defamation, the character of the business it conducts and the likely impact thereon of the defamation; and the damages must be assessed in accordance with the principles relating to claims for defamation, bearing in mind that a corporation has 'no feelings to outrage or offend'.

117.

A trading corporation is entitled to claim for general damages as a result of an injury to its business reputation and specific damages for any actual loss sustained as a result of the statements
.

118.

The question as to whether and to what extent the statements in all its facets were calculated to injure the plaintiff in its business reputations is one to be decided by reference to the nature of the alleged defamation, the character of the businesses conducted by it and the likely impact thereon of the defamation; and the damages must be assessed in accordance with the principles relating to claims for defamation, bearing in mind that a corporation has 'no feelings to outrage or offend'
. 

The issue of general damages

119.

It was already submitted that the evidence has demonstrated that a number of the statements by defendants were not made as alleged in the pleadings or at all.

120.

It was further submitted that the evidence has demonstrated that none of the statements was made animo iniurandi, in other words the statements were not calculated to injure the plaintiff's business reputation.

121.

The circumstances in this case are analogous to facts in the Laugh It Off Promotions CC v SAB International E (Finance) BV t/a Sabmark International (Freedom of Expression Institute as Amicus Curiae) case, where the Constitutional Court found that it was relevant that there had been no adequate proof in that case of likely economic harm as a result of the t-shirt parodies of certain brand marks. It observed also that proof of that sort would be necessary to oust a constitutionally protected expression: 

'I hold that in a claim under s 34(1)(c), a party that seeks to oust an expressive conduct protected under the Constitution must, on the facts, establish a likelihood of substantial economic detriment to the claimant's mark. There is indeed much to be said for the contention that, in a claim based on tarnishment of a trademark, the probability of material detriment to the mark envisaged in the section must be restricted to economic and trade harm. In essence the protection is against detriment to the repute of the mark; and not against the dignity but the selling magnetism of the mark. In an open democracy valuable expressive acts in public ought not to be lightly trampled upon by marginal detriment or harm unrelated to the commercial value that vest in the mark itself. 

In the respondent's depositions there are no facts which deal with probability of trade or commercial harm. Its attitude is that the likelihood of harm is self evident. I simply do not agree. In my view, if anything the facts suggest otherwise.'

122.

These passages should not be interpreted to mean that the demonstration of significant prospective economic harm by a plaintiff will inevitably justify an abridgement of the rights of expression of another.

123.

It is significant that absolutely no evidence was led to the effect that the statement tarnished the plaintiff's business reputation.

The issue  of specific damages

124.

The plaintiff alleges in all four matters that the statements complained of caused it patrimonial loss.

125.

The proximate cause of  the losses are stated to be delays  in obtaining the statutory  approvals (town planning and environmental) and delays suffered as “waiting  time”, presumably a reference to delays in construction and selling of erven.

126.

The plaintiff must at this stage at least notionally prove that such losses were suffered. As we showed above in respect of general damages (in the sense the word is used in respect of trading corporations), it cannot as a matter of course be assumed that such losses were suffered as a result of defamatory statements or even if these losses were suffered, which is strenuously denied, that the defendants are liable to compensate the plaintiff for such losses.

127.

We wish to make three submissions. Firstly, the plaintiff’s case is misconceived. Secondly, the evidence on record shows that the delays that were experienced were not caused by the defendants and furthermore that the defendants’ actions and participation did not cause any delays. Thirdly, no shred of evidence exists of actual patrimonial losses suffered.

128.

The plaintiff is a township developer. It makes its money out of the sale of erven. In terms of section 26 of the Alienation of Land Act, a developer cannot receive any money in respect of erven until such time as the erven are registrable.

“26(1) No person shall by virtue of a deed of alienation relating to an erf or a unit receive any consideration until – 

(a) such erf or unit is  registrable;. . .”

129.

The effect of this statutory prohibition is that developers are required to carry all costs in respect of a development until so called proclamation of a township, which entails that all municipal services must be installed, and a township register is established.

130.

The plaintiff alleges that its approvals were delayed. Approvals are, however, just the start of the process towards creating registrable erven. After approval of a township application, a whole new process in respect of services follows. After service designs are approved and service contributions are determined, the actual services must be installed.

131.

Delays in the approval process may spill over into the processes which follow, but that is not necessarily so. The plaintiff should at least show how the ultimate registrability of the erven was delayed by facts which precede the approval. The plaintiff complains of acts that occurred early on in the township application (September 2004). The causal link with establishment requirements that took place a year and a half later is certainly only speculative at best.

132.

Wray testified that the first erven were sold in 2006, which means at least a year and a half after the letter of September 2004.

133.

We submit that a claimant in the position of the plaintiff should, as a bare minimum, allege that the proclamation of the township was delayed. It simply cannot be assumed that a delay in the township approval process spills over into the processes that follow.

134.

In this regard it should be noted that the environmental approval process and the township approval process are parallel processes. At least on the facts of this case, they were at all times dealt with as parallel processes. The environmental approval process, as long as it is completed before the approval of the services designs, cannot delay the process that culminates in registrability of erven.

135.

We therefore submit that the entire case in respect of specific damages is misconceived.

136.

The plaintiff’s problems in respect of specific damages (actual losses), go further. The evidence shows that all the delays experienced, has nothing to do with the participation of the defendants in the various processes.

137.

Assuming for the moment that the environmental approval process did impact on the township approval process (a fact which is not conceded), it is abundantly clear that all the delays in this process were caused by either the plaintiff, its consultant or the environmental authority, being the GDACE.

138.

The environmental process started in December 2003. It is clear from the projected progress, that the process was expected to be finished in the latter half of 2004, before the township approval would have been finished.

139.

But departmental delays bedevilled the process right from the outset. The GDACE warned all applicants for environmental approval, that they would experience delays. Such delays then in fact materialised in this instance, and the plaintiff’s consultant expressed dissatisfaction with the delays. The plaintiff’s attorney also relayed the usual threat of litigation.

140.

Then the plaintiff dismissed its consultant in April 2004, and only re-appointed another in October 2004. The plaintiff seems to take the attitude that this period of five to six months is irrelevant.

141.

The evidence then further shows that there were further departmental delays in the period October 2004 to June 2005. And some of these delays were probably quite legitimate as it is clear that many departmental officials had serious reservations about the development.

142.

It is difficult to see how any of the actions or statements of the defendants could have caused any delays.

143.

It is relevant that there was no direct relationship between the acts of expression and the alleged harm which were caused as a result of the delays in obtaining the approvals which were prerequisites for the development to go ahead. There were the following crucial mediating factors:

143.1.
The defendants were not the only objectors. The plaintiff failed to show that it was defendants’ individual expressions as opposed to the combined objections of all the objectors which caused the delays.

143.2.
And finally, the plaintiff’s case falls completely flat on its face when one considers the delay caused by the fact that the plaintiff’s application for environmental approval did not deal adequately with the socio economic benefits of the project. This aspect was only adequately addressed in the first week of June 2005. It is clear from the evidence that the environmental approval would not have been granted without the firm undertakings given by the plaintiff at this stage. Once this had been given, the positive ROD followed almost immediately.

See: p 403

144.

The only delay experienced after the positive ROD, was a result of the condition contained in the ROD that no construction should start until the appeal had been finalised. Apart from the fact that this was a sensible condition to impose, the imposition of the condition had nothing to do with the defendants. The condition was in any event altered shortly afterwards.

145.

Finally, we deal briefly with the two alleged incidents of construction delays. The incident of August 2004 is irrelevant as the plaintiff itself (per Wray) avers that it was not busy with construction.

146.

On a proper analysis, there were also no delays caused to construction in July 2005. The plaintiff started construction as soon as the ROD condition was amended. The urgent application brought by Barnes and Gaylard was unsuccessful and ultimately had no effect.

See: p 387 – 388

147.

The conclusion is therefore easily reached that the only delays that could have been caused by the defendants relates to the fact that they participated in the statutory processes. To regard ordinary participation as causing “delays” is an extremely jaundiced view of the matter. 

148.

In any event, these processes are statutorily prescribed and the defendants were by no means the only objectors or participants.

149.

Absent an allegation that the defendants disrupted the processes, we submit that this entire line of reasoning is legally impermissible.

150.

We submit that it is quite evident that no special damages could have been suffered and no causality has been proven either.

151.

As the concepts of special damages and general damages in respect of a trading corporation are closely linked, the problems of the plaintiff in this regard spill over into the issue of general damages.

The  issue of  constitutional damages:

152.

This part of the four claims is completely without merit. Constitutional torts or constitutional damages only arise when the ordinary law cannot deal with an egregious and persistent problem (such as torture or extra judicial killings). There is no authority for the proposition that it can be claimed against a private actor, even less in the context of defamation of a trading corporation.

See: Fose v Minister of Safety and Security 1997(3) SA 786 (CC)

153.

We deal with this aspect only to highlight the overall approach of the plaintiff to the case. It is a further instance where meritless allegations are made with the sole objective to intimidate.

154.

This claim illustrates the ongoing style of the plaintiff and its erstwhile attorney, Myburgh. It is belligerent, abrasive, petulant and impatient. 

FREEDOM OF EXPRESSION

155.

The Court’s interest in the defendants' conduct should principally be limited to an examination of their good faith and to evaluate what they have said and done according to current legal standards. An important constituent of those standards involves the ambit of the right to freedom of expression.

156.

The defendants contend that their campaign fell within the zone of freedom of expression guaranteed by s 16(1) of the Constitution which entrenches the following: 

'(1)
Everyone has the right to freedom of expression, which includes - B 

(a) freedom of the press and other media; 

(b) freedom to receive or impart information or ideas. 

157.

The plaintiff cannot suggest that the defendants do not have the right to freedom of expression. In his evidence, Wray, on behalf of the plaintiff, unexceptionably testified that such right does not entitle the defendants to act unlawfully.

158.

Insofar as Wray’s testimony suggested that the plaintiff’s rights trump rights of expression, it plainly cannot be endorsed. 

159.

Admittedly, no absolute value attaches to freedom of expression. As in all cases involving competing rights, the task in this matter is to determine the point of balance appropriate to the pertinent facts. 

160.

In undertaking that task, full weight must be given to the place of freedom of expression in our constitutional democracy. The methodology for this has been clearly outlined by Moseneke J (as he then was) in Laugh It Off Promotions CC v SAB International E (Finance) BV t/a Sabmark International (Freedom of Expression Institute as Amicus Curiae), 
2006 (1) SA 144 (CC) (2005 (8) BCLR 743). Footnotes have been omitted. a case which also dealt with the interface between freedom of expression and commercial and proprietary interests, in that instance involving trade mark rights. It was held: 

'It is trite that under our constitutional democracy, the requirements of the section ought to be understood through the prism of the Constitution and specifically that of the free expression guarantee. The SCA, too, correctly recognised that a construction of the section is subject to the dictates of the Constitution and that its application must not unduly restrict a party's freedom of expression. However, in deciding the merits of the infringement claim it opted for a two-stage approach. In the first enquiry the Court held that the message on the T-shirts amounts to an infringement because it is unfair and materially harmful to the repute of the trade marks. Only thereafter did the Court enquire into and [find] that freedom of expression does not afford justification for the infringement. This approach appears to be premised on the reasoning that one must first find an infringement under the section and only thereafter determine whether the infringement is excused by an assertion of freedom of expression. This approach is flawed. 

161.

In examining this passage the Honorable Mr. Justice Tipp AJ in Petro Props (Pty) Ltd v Barlow and another 2006 (5) SA 160 (W) remarked as follows:

‘A finding of unfair use or likelihood of detriment to the repute of the marks hinges on whether the offending expression is protected under s 16(1) of the Constitution or not. If the expression is constitutionally protected, what is unfair or detrimental, or not, in the context of s 34(1) (c) must then be mediated against the competing claim for free expression. By determining the unfairness and detriment anteriorly, the SCA in effect precluded itself from properly taking into account the free expression guarantee claimed by the alleged infringer. The two-stage approach advocated by the SCA in effect prevents an understanding of the internal requirements of the section through the lens of the Constitution. The injunction to construe statutes consistent with the Constitution means that, where reasonably possible, the Court is obliged to promote the rights entrenched by it. In this case the SCA was obliged to balance out the interests of the owner of the marks against the claim of free expression for the very purpose of determining what is unfair and materially harmful to the marks.

Applying the two-stage analysis (as thus refined by the Constitutional Court) to the present case, it is necessary first to assess the degree to which the constitutional protection of expression extends to the protection of the defendants' campaign, and thereafter to evaluate the degree to which that protection falls to be diluted in the light of the plaintiff's rights and interests.” 

162.

The value and importance of the right of freedom of expression have repeatedly been the subject-matter of strong judicial statements.

163.

In South African National Defence Union v Minister of Defence and 
1999 (4) SA 469 (CC) (1999 (6) BCLR 615). Footnotes have been omitted. another Oregan, J described the rationale for freedom of expression in these terms: 

'. . . Freedom of expression lies at the heart of a democracy. It is valuable for many reasons, including its instrumental function as a guarantor of democracy, its implicit recognition and protection of the moral agency of individuals in our society and its facilitation of the search for truth by individuals and society generally. The Constitution recognises that individuals in our society F need to be able to hear, form and express opinions and views freely on a wide range of matters.

164.

Mokgoro J observed in Case and Another v Minister of Safety and Security and Others; Curtis v Minister of Safety and Security and Others 1996 (3) SA 617 (CC) (1996 (1) SACR 587; 1996 (5) BCLR 609) in paragraph [27], 

‘. . . freedom of expression is one of a ''web of mutually supporting rights'' in the Constitution. It is closely related to freedom of religion, belief and opinion (s 15), the right to dignity (s 10), as well as the right to freedom of association (s 18), the right to vote and to stand for public office (s 19) and the right to assembly (s 17). These rights taken together H protect the rights of individuals not only individually to form and express opinions, of whatever nature, but to establish associations and groups of like-minded people to foster and propagate such opinions. The rights implicitly recognise the importance, both for a democratic society and for individuals personally, of the ability to form and express opinions, whether individually or collectively, even where I those views are controversial. The corollary of the freedom of expression and its related rights is tolerance by society of different views. Tolerance, of course, does not require approbation of a particular view. In essence, it requires the acceptance of the public airing of disagreements and the refusal to silence unpopular views.' 

165.

A succinct statement of the vital role that this freedom plays in our society is to be found also in the judgment of Kriegler J in S v Mamabolo: 

'There can be no quarrel with the kernel of the argument presented by Mr. Marcus. Freedom of expression, especially when gauged in conjunction with its accompanying fundamental freedoms, is of the utmost importance in the kind of open and democratic society the Constitution has set as our aspirational norm. Having regard to our recent past of thought control, censorship and enforced conformity to governmental theories, freedom of expression - the free and open exchange of ideas - is no less important than it is in the United States of America. It could actually be contended with much force that the public interest in the open market-place of ideas is all the more important to us in this country because our democracy is not yet firmly established and must feel its way. Therefore we should be particularly astute to outlaw any form of thought-control, however respectably dressed.' 

166.

A further perspective on the broad socio-political context of the freedom of expression was articulated by Langa DCJ (as he then was) in the Islamic Unity Convention decision: 

'Notwithstanding the fact that the right to freedom of expression and speech has always been recognised in the South African common law, we have recently emerged from a severely restrictive past where expression, especially political and artistic expression, was extensively circumscribed by various legislative F enactments. The restrictions that were placed on expression were not only a denial of democracy itself, but also exacerbated the impact of the systemic violations of other fundamental human rights in South Africa. Those restrictions would be incompatible with South Africa's present commitment to a society based on a ''constitutionally protected culture of openness and democracy and universal human rights for South Africans of all ages, classes and colours''. As pointed out G by Kriegler J in Mamabolo,

''. . . freedom to speak one's mind is now an inherent quality of the type of society contemplated by the Constitution as a whole and is specifically promoted by the freedoms of conscience, expression, assembly, association and political participation protected by sections 15 to 19 of the Bill of Rights''. 

South Africa is not alone in its recognition of the right to freedom of expression and its importance to a democratic society. The right has been described as ''one of the essential foundations of a democratic society; one of the basic conditions for its progress and for the development of every one of its members . . .''. As such it is protected in almost every international human rights instrument. . . .' 

167.

See also the dictum of O'Regan J in Khumalo and Others v Holomisa

'. . . The importance of the right of freedom of expression in a democracy has been acknowledged on many occasions by this Court and other South African courts. Freedom of expression is integral to a democratic society for many reasons. It is constitutive of the dignity and autonomy of human beings. Moreover, without it, the ability of citizens to make responsible political decisions and to participate effectively in public life would be stifled.'  

168.

At the same time, that freedom of expression is nevertheless not boundless has also been stated more than once. See, for instance, the Laugh It Off decision: 

'We are obliged to delineate the bounds of the constitutional guarantee of free expression generously. . . . Plainly, the right to free expression in our Constitution is neither paramount over other guaranteed rights nor limitless. As Kriegler J in S v Mamabolo puts it: ''With us it is not a pre-eminent freedom ranking above all others. It is not even an unqualified right.'' In appropriate circumstances authorised by the Constitution itself, a law of general application may limit freedom of expression.'  

169.

As one would expect, the greatest part of jurisprudence on freedom of expression has involved examination of the content of an expression and whether or not it is reasonable and justifiable for that expression to be uttered or disseminated. Typically, issues of moral, religious and political controversy (even questions of repugnance) may arise. 

170.

The case before this Court does not present issues of that kind. For instance, there can be no suggestion that the letter to the Town Planner or any of the representations to the GDACE contained some offensive expression. Rather, the plaintiff says that such statements should not have been composed and transmitted at all because they are defamatory of the plaintiff.

171.

Nonetheless, whether one's focus falls on the content of the expressions or on the mere fact of the statements were made, the vital policy considerations that underlie passages such as those quoted above are fully applicable to the facts before the Court. All things being equal, the defendants bore a standard that any vibrant democratic society would be glad to have raised in its midst. Their interest and motivation were selfless, being to contribute to environmental protection in the common good. None of them stood to gain material personal profit. Their modus operandi was entirely peaceful and took place within the context of a statutory prescribed public participation process. 

172.

It was mobilised within a self-funding voluntary association. It was geared towards public participation, information gathering and exchange, discussion and the production of community-based mandates. 

173.

Conduct of that sort earns the support of our Constitution. 

174.

As was stated by the Honorable Mr. Justice Tipp AJ in Petro Props (Pty) Ltd v Barlow and another 2006 (5) SA 160 (W):

‘In this context, it should be borne in mind that the Constitution does not only afford a shield to be resorted to passively and defensively. It also provides a sword, which groups like the Association can and should draw to empower their initiatives and interests.’ 

175.

Having regard to these considerations, it is necessary to examine more closely what the 'defamatory statements' is on which the plaintiff’s claim is based. The statements all related to a statutory prescribed public participation process; the defendants made no attempt to physically impede the approval process. 

176.

What the plaintiff brings to Court is a situation where other people echoed the sentiments expressed by the defendants and where certain government agencies have found that there was merit in the concerns articulated by the respondents.  The decisions and views and statements of the defendants were of no direct consequence. 

177.

The granting of the relief sought by the plaintiff would have a chilling effect on the readiness of persons like the defendants to step forward as active citizens. Our Courts have, on many occasions, warned of the perils of curtailing free speech and free association
. 

178.

In relation to the chilling effect of inhibiting public debate, see case in paras [105] and [106]. 

Similar concerns have been expressed in relation to the undesirable deterrent impact of the prospect of costs orders, especially where individuals find themselves drawn into litigation in respect of public interest issues
.

179.

See, for instance, 1999 (2) SA 834 (LCC) (1998 (1) BCLR 123). 

Parallel and apposite statements are to be found in the judgment of the European Court of Human Rights in Steel and Morris v The United Kingdom. 

180.

Steel and Morris were members of London Greenpeace, which had run an ongoing campaign against McDonald's, stretching over some years. In the course thereof, a strongly worded six-page leaflet had been distributed, attacking McDonald's on a wide variety of matters, ranging from allegations of cruelty in the production of the meat that was used by it, to allegations of serious health consequences flowing from the eating of McDonald's products. McDonald's successfully sued for damages for defamation and the Court of Appeal rejected an appeal. However, the ECHR found for Steel and Morris and held, inter alia, that their rights to freedom of expression under art 10 of the Convention had been violated. 

181.

In the course of its judgment the Court observed:  

'The Government have pointed out that the plaintiffs were not journalists, and should not therefore attract the high level of protection afforded to the press under art 10. The Court considers, however, that in a democratic society even small and informal campaign groups, such as London Greenpeace, must be able to carry on their activities effectively and that there exists a strong public interest in enabling such groups and individuals outside the mainstream to contribute to the public debate by disseminating information and ideas on matters of general public interest such as health and the environment. . . .' 

    '. . . As a result of the law as it stood in England and Wales, the plaintiffs had the choice either to withdraw the leaflet and apologise to McDonald's, or bear the burden of proving, without legal aid, the truth of the allegations contained in it. Given the enormity and complexity of that undertaking, the Court does not consider that the correct balance was struck between the need to protect the plaintiffs' rights to freedom of expression and the need to protect McDonald's rights and reputation. The more general interest in promoting the free circulation of information and ideas about the activities of powerful commercial entities, and the possible ''chilling'' effect on others are also important factors to be considered in this context, bearing in mind the legitimate and important role that campaign groups can play in stimulating public discussion. . . .' 

182.

In summary, it is difficult to conclude that a campaign in the field of public opinion could be held to be vexatious, contra bonos mores or actionable. It is, likewise, difficult to conclude that the plaintiff has shown that its rights outweigh the rights of expression, viewed in the light of the manner in which those rights have been exercised by the defendants. 

THE ISSUE OF SLAPP SUITS

183.

We submit that this case is a classic example of a SLAPP suit. The acronym stands for strategic litigation aimed against public participation.

184.

The phenomenon of wealthy developers and businesses that sue environmental activists has been studied and described for almost three decades in many jurisdictions.

See: Environmental Law for all: D. Barnard, 1999, Impact Books, Chapter 9

185.

The fact that many jurisdictions have adopted legislation to protect against such suits is significant.

See: New York; Civil Rights Law, Act 7, 5570 – 9 and 76 - 9

See also: California, section 425.16 of the Code of Civil Procedure

See also: Quebec; Civil Code of Procedure to Prevent Improper Use of the Courts and to Promote Freedom of Expression and Public Participation

See also: Australia; Gunns v Marr [2005] VSC 251

See also: Chapman & Chapman v Australian Broadcasting Corporation [2000] SASC 146.

186.

SLAPP suits are characterised by allegations with marginal or suspect merits. However the potential to intimidate is big.

187.

South Africa does not yet have any specific legislation dealing with SLAPP suits. Our procedural law also does not have mechanisms to get rid of actions that notionally make out a cause of action at the outset. Canadian civil procedure has a mechanism to seek summary dismissal of an action. Analogous to our summary judgment procedure that forces a defendant to disclose his defence under oath, this procedure forces a plaintiff to show that its evidence has sufficient merit to proceed further.

See: Rule 20, Rules of Civil Procedure, Ontario

188.

A number of states in the USA have adopted anti-SLAPP legislation. By and large it uses similar procedural mechanisms to scrutinise the evidence of a plaintiff at an early stage. Generally the litigation allows a defendant to bring an application challenging the allegations being made and forces a plaintiff to produce its evidence on oath. The evidence can then be scrutinised to see whether it merits a trial. Defendants in such cases are generally also protected against adverse cost orders, even if the case proceeds to trial. 

189.

We respectfully submit that this court should use all available mechanisms at its disposal to express its disapproval and stamp out this type of litigation.

190.

In the first instance, it should develop the law relating to defamation where citizens participate in statutory procedures before tribunals or other state institutions or decision makers. A plaintiff should bear a full onus to prove all elements of defamation. In addition, the scope to make relevant statements in a situation where qualified privilege applies should be made as wide as possible, as it should take cognisance of the fact that people with diverse interests, levels of education and wealth etc. need to participate in such processes.

191.

Participative democracy requires that ample room should be left for people to participate in decision making without being inhibited by the threat of litigation.

192.

The supremacy of the rule of law is now a founding value of our society
.

193.

Courts are under an obligation to develop the common law.  This is not a matter of discretion:  it flows directly from the functions of courts under our Constitution:

“[33] ….  Section 39(2) of the Constitution provides that when developing the common law, every court must promote the spirit, purport and objects of the Bill of Rights.  It follows implicitly that where the common law deviates from the spirit, purport and objects of the Bill of Rights the courts have an obligation to develop it by removing that deviation... 

[36] In South Africa, the IC [interim Constitution] brought into operation, in one fell swoop, a completely new and different set of legal norms. In these circumstances the courts must remain vigilant and should not hesitate to ensure that the common law is developed to reflect the spirit, purport and objects of the Bill of Rights… 

[39] It needs to be stressed that the obligation of Courts to develop the common law, in the context of the s 39(2) objectives, is not purely discretionary. On the contrary, it is implicit in s 39(2) read with s 173 that where the common law as it stands is deficient in promoting the s 39(2) objectives, the Courts are under a general obligation to develop it appropriately.” 

194.

It is submitted that the case law and the academic writing show that there is room for legitimate debate as to whether the pre-Constitutional common law relating to defamation is still appropriate under the present circumstances, especially where ordinary members of civil society are encouraged to participate in public processes which ensures participative democracy. Freedom of speech and the rights of ordinary citizens to engage in participative democracy without fear of recrimination must carry decisive weight.

195.

Finally, the court should mark its disapproval known by granting an adverse cost order on the attorney and client scale.

196.

Due to the quantum of damages and the importance of the case it is respectfully submitted that the use of two counsel was justified. The plaintiff itself previously employed two counsel. This was the case still at the trial hearings of 2009 that were postponed.  Therefore an award for costs in favour of the defendants should include the costs of two counsel.

197.

On behalf of the Defendants, the following order is sought:

1. The actions in all four cases are dismissed with costs on the attorney and client scale.

2. Such costs are to include the costs of two counsel.

3. The reserved costs for the postponements of the matters in 2009 are awarded to Defendants on the same basis as in par 1 and 2 above.

4. Witness Van Weele is to be regarded as a necessary witness and his  reasonable transport and accommodation costs are to  be considered as costs in the proceedings.

_____________________________

CR JANSEN

A VORSTER

COUNSEL FOR THE DEFENDANTS
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